
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

May 15, 2018   5:30 pm 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Phil Boyum 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations  
A) Proclamation to recognize “National Police Week” 
B) Proclamation presented to the City of Statesboro Department of Public Works & 

Engineering recognizing the week of May 20 - 26, 2018 as "Public Works Week". 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 05-01-2018 Council Minutes 
B) Consideration of a motion for the surplus and disposal of vehicles and equipment in 

the Public Works & Engineering Department, Fire Department and Public Utilities 
Department 

C) Consideration of a Motion to cancel the July 3, 2018 Council Meeting. 
 

6. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2018-02: An Ordinance of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances for Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) Amendment to 
Section 6-5 adding insurance requirements for alcoholic beverage licensees. 

 
7. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2018-03: An Ordinance of the 

Statesboro Code of Ordinance for Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) Amendment 
modifying policy relating to admission of patrons under 21 years to establishments 
licensed to sell alcoholic beverages.   
 

8. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2018-04: An Ordinance of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances for Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) Amendment adding 
Low Volume Licensees to Section 6-3 Definitions and consideration by Mayor and 
Council of whether a discount for license fees should be available for such licensees and 
in what amount. 

 
9. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2018-05: An Ordinance of the 

Statesboro Code of Ordinances: Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) Amendment adding 
Special Events provision to Section 6-8 “Regulations pertaining to certain classes of 
licenses generally” as Section 6-8 9(d)(3)  

 

 



 
 

 
10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION DSDA 18-

05- 01: Lovett and Mills Excavators requests to demolish two (2) structures addressed 2 
Savannah Ave.   The property lies adjacent to the boundaries of the Downtown 
Statesboro Development Authority and requires a finding of necessity for proposed 
demolitions where the structure does not exceed 35 percent in structural damage and 
meets one of the criteria contained in Section 3003(D). 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to approve a Mutual Aid Agreement between the City of 
Statesboro and City of Swainsboro related to Fire Protection. 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to approve selection of Trojan Signa UV system to replace the 
existing Trojan UV 4000 system and authorize staff to negotiate a purchase price not to 
exceed $685,000.00. 
 

13. Consideration of a Motion to approve Professional Serviced Contract with Hussy, Gay, 
Bell Engineering to provide design, bid, and permitting and contract administration for 
the Ultraviolet System replacement project at the WWTP with the total amount no to 
exceed $56,795.00. 
 

14. Consideration of a Motion to approve the extension of water and sewer service 
to Bulloch Academy School on West Main St. with the City's financial participation not 
to exceed $100,000.00. 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to approve a Water/Sewer Agreement between the City 
of Statesboro and Bulloch Academy, Inc. 
 

16. Other Business from City Council 
 

17. City Managers Comments 
 

18. Public Comments (General) 
 

19. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 

 
20. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 

A Proclamation by the Mayor and  

City Council of Statesboro, Georgia  
2018 National Police Week Proclamation 

Whereas, In 1962, President John F. Kennedy signed a proclamation which designated May 15 as 
Peace Officers Memorial Day and the week in which that date falls as Police Week; and 

Whereas,  the officers and staff of the Statesboro Police Department play an essential role in 
protecting the freedoms and safeguarding the rights of the citizens of our community; and 

Whereas,  there are nearly 60,000 assaults on law enforcement officers across the United States each 
year, resulting in approximately 16,000 injuries; and 

Whereas,  more than 20,000 law enforcement officers in the United States have died in the line of 
duty since the first recorded death in 1791; and 

Whereas,  the names of 129 officers who died in the line of duty in 2017 are being added to the 
National Law Enforcement Officer’s Memorial this spring; and 

Whereas, it is important to recognize the partnership that exists between the police and their 
community in order to ensure a high quality of life for all citizens, 

Now, therefore, I, Jonathan McCollar, Honorable Mayor of Statesboro, Georgia, do hereby proclaim 
the week of May 13 through May 19, 2018 as Police Week in the City of Statesboro; and therefore extend 
appreciation to the members of the Statesboro Police Department for their dedicated work alongside our 
community, and call upon all citizens to take a moment to consider the responsibilities we place upon the 
shoulders of our law enforcement officers, and to reflect on those officers in our nation who have died in 
the line of duty. 

In witness whereof, I, Jonathan McCollar, Honorable Mayor of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, hereunto set my hand and caused the seal of the City of Statesboro to be affixed 
this 15th Day of May, 2018. 

 
 
 

_______________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  5/7/18 
 
RE:  National Public Works Week Proclamation 
 
Policy Issue:  Public Education and Advocacy 
 
Recommendation:  
Proclamation recognizing May 20-26, 2018 as National Public Works Week.  Tammy 
Rushing, 2017 City of Statesboro Employee of the Year, will receive the proclamation 
at the May 15, 2018 city council meeting. 
 
Background:  
Since 1960, the American Public Works Association (APWA) has sponsored National 
Public Works Week. Public Works professionals across North America use this week to 
energize and educate the public on the importance of public works to their daily lives: 
planning, building, managing and operating at the heart of their local communities to 
improve everyday quality of life.  Locally, the City of Statesboro Department of Public 
Works & Engineering uses this opportunity to highlight accomplishments, advocate for 
public works initiatives in our community, and to promote safety in work zones. 
 
The 2018 National Public Works theme is “The Power of Public Works” and recognizes 
the impacts provided by the many facets of public works in our community.  From 
maintaining roads to planning for and implementing mass transit, from providing clean 
water to disposing of solid waste, from maintaining fleet equipment to implementing 
emergency management strategies, public works services influence a community’s 
quality of life. 
 
Budget Impact:  None 
 
Council Person and District:  N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachments:  Proclamation 



 

A Proclamation by the Mayor and  

City Council of Statesboro, Georgia 
  

Public Works Week Proclamation 
 

WHEREAS,  public works services provided in our community are an integral part of 
our citizens’ everyday lives; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the support of an understanding and informed citizenry is vital to the 

efficient operation of public works services and facilities; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  the health, safety, and quality of life of this community greatly depends 

on these services and facilities; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  the quality and effectiveness of these services and facilities, as well as 

their planning, design, construction and management, is vitally 
dependent upon the efforts and skill of public works personnel; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  the efficiency of the qualified and dedicated personnel who provide 

public works services are materially influenced by the public’s attitude 
and understanding of the importance of the work they perform; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  in honor of National Public Works Week, sponsored by the American 

Public Works Association, it is most appropriate that we recognize the 
service of the public works personnel of the City of Statesboro; now, 

 
NOW, THEREFORE,  I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of Statesboro, Georgia, do hereby proclaim 

the week of May 20 through May 26, 2018 as “Public Works Week” in 
the City of Statesboro; and, further extend appreciation to our public 
works personnel for the vital services they perform and their exemplary 
dedication to this community; and, call upon all citizens to acquaint 
themselves with the matters involved in providing public works services 
and to recognize the contributions which our public works personnel 
make every day to our health, safety, comfort, and quality of life. 

 
      Passed and adopted this 15th day of May, 2018. 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
   ___ 

 Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 

May 1, 2018 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on May 01, 2018 at 9:00 am in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jonathan McCollar, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn and John Riggs.    Also present were City Manager Randy 
Wetmore, Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling and City Attorney 
Cain Smith.      
The Meeting was called to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar. 
 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman John Riggs 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations  

A) Ms. Kania Greer would like to give an update on the Community Dog Park 
B) Recognize Ms. Tammy Davis' 7th Grade "Advanced Science" Class from 

Langston Chapel Middle School. 
C) Recognition of Robbie Sewell, Parks Supervisor, for obtaining certification as a 

Georgia Certified Landscape Professional. 
Kania Greer was not present. Director of DSDA Allen Muldrew gave the update on the Dog 
Park. He stated the organization was selling brick as a fund raiser for the Park. 
 
Ms. Tammy Davis' and the 7th Grade class were not present. 

Mayor McCollar presented Robbie Sewell with his certificate for obtaining certification as a 
Georgia Certified Landscape Professional. 

Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 

Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 04-03-2018 Council Minutes 
b) 04-06-2018 Budget Retreat Minutes 
c) 04-17-2018 Council Minutes 
d) 04-24-2018 Called Council Minutes 

 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve the consent 
agenda in entirety. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 
 
 



 
 

Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2018-01: An 
Ordinance to amend Chapter 5-336 –Vendor and Professional Appeals. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve Ordinance 
2018-01: An Ordinance to amend Chapter 5-336 –Vendor and Professional Appeals. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 

 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Alcohol License Application: 

A)  Jay Suree Ambe 2018 Inc. 
      Vrundaben Patel 
      118 Lanier Drive  
  
B)  New Tokyo Ga Inc.  
      Yan Zhu 
      100 Brampton Ave  
      Suite 1A 
        
C)  Shriji Food 
      Mohanlal Babarbhai Patel  
      218 N Main Street  
        
D) Loco Inc. 
     DBA: Loco’s Grill and Pub  

                 91 Briarwood Lane 
 
 
             E) Southern Bars LLC 
                  DBA/ The Cotton Barrel 
                  125 Gata Drive 
 
The public hearing was not opened or closed. Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by 
Councilman Riggs to approve all alcohol applications in one vote. Councilman Boyum, Jones, 
Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve:  APPLICATION 17-09-
01: Valor Investments, LLC requests a conditional use variance from Article II Section 201 
for 2.17 acres of property addressed 557 East Main Street and currently zoned R20 (Single-
family Residential) to utilize the property as a group home for the treatment of alcohol 
and/or drug dependency.  

 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 

Stuart Gregory spoke in favor of the request. 



 
 

Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 

Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve  
APPLICATION 17-09-01: Valor Investments, LLC requests a conditional use variance from 
Article II Section 201 for 2.17 acres of property addressed 557 East Main Street and currently 
zoned R20 (Single-family Residential) to utilize the property as a group home for the treatment 
of alcohol and/or drug dependency. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor 
of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-03- 
04: Gemini Construction requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 4 of 
the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the minimum required setback for a 
freestanding sign permitted for installation July 17, 2017. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 

Matt Patrick spoke in favor of the request. 

Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 

Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve APPLICATION 
V 18-03- 04: Gemini Construction requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 4 
of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the minimum required setback for a freestanding 
sign permitted for installation July 17, 2017. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted 
in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 18-03- 
05: Ken Kitching requests a zoning map amendment for roughly .21 acres of a .73 acre 
parcel from the HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district to the CR 
(Commercial Retail) zoning district.  The applicant will subsequently subdivide the entire 
.73 acre parcel and construct an office building on the resulting .21 acre parcel.  

 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 18-03- 
03:  Ken Kitching requests a variance from Article X Section 1003(A), which requires a 
minimum lot area of 10,000 square feet. Consideration should first be given to variance 
applicationV18-03-05.  
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing 
for Application V-18-03-05 and Application RZ 18-03-03. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn 
and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 Ken Kitching spoke in favor of the request. 



 
 

 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 

Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn, to include staff 
recommendations for approval of APPLICATION V 18-03- 05: Ken Kitching requests a zoning 
map amendment for roughly .21 acres of a .73 acre parcel from the HOC (Highway Oriented 
Commercial) zoning district to the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district.  The applicant will 
subsequently subdivide the entire .73 acre parcel and construct an office building on the resulting 
.21 acre parcel and APPLICATION RZ 18-03- 03:  Ken Kitching requests a variance from 
Article X Section 1003(A), which requires a minimum lot area of 10,000 square feet. 
Consideration should first be given to variance applicationV18-03-05. Councilman Boyum, 
Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 18-01- 
09:  L&S Acquisitions and CFN Partners, LLC request a zoning map amendment of a 
proposed subdivision of 6.8 acres of a 60.92 acre parcel located at Josh Hagin Road from 
the R8 (Single-Family Residential) and R10 (Single-Family Residential) zoning districts to 
the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to permit new retail construction (Tax Parcel 
107 000009 000). This application was tabled at the request of the applicant at the January 
16, 2018 City Council Meeting.  
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
Joey Maxwell spoke in favor of the request. 

Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 

Councilman Boyum made a motion seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve 
APPLICATION RZ 18-01- 09:  L&S Acquisitions and CFN Partners, LLC request a zoning 
map amendment of a proposed subdivision of 6.8 acres of a 60.92 acre parcel located at Josh 
Hagin Road from the R8 (Single-Family Residential) and R10 (Single-Family Residential) 
zoning districts to the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to permit new retail construction 
(Tax Parcel 107 000009 000). This application was tabled at the request of the applicant at the 
January 16, 2018 City Council Meeting. The motion also included a five (5) foot wide landscape 
buffer will be required along the parking lot abutting Railroad Bed Road. Any materials planted 
in this buffer must have a maximum growth height no greater than three (3) feet at maturity. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION DSDA 18-04-
01: Northland Communications requests to demolish one (1) structure addressed 32 East 
Main Street, which is a contributing property to the remains of the East Vine Street 
Warehouse and Depot District. The property lies within the boundaries of the Downtown 
Statesboro Development Authority and requires a finding of necessity for proposed 
demolitions where the structure does not exceed 35 percent in structural damage and meets 
one of the criteria contained in Section 3003(D). 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
Lee Johnson of Northland Cable spoke in favor of the request. 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs Motion to 
approve: APPLICATION DSDA 18-04-01: Northland Communications requests to demolish 
one (1) structure addressed 32 East Main Street, which is a contributing property to the remains 
of the East Vine Street Warehouse and Depot District. The property lies within the boundaries of 
the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority and requires a finding of necessity for 
proposed demolitions where the structure does not exceed 35 percent in structural damage and 
meets one of the criteria contained in Section 3003(D). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and 
Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2018-02: An Ordinance of the Statesboro 
Code of Ordinances: Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) Amendment to Section 6-5 adding 
insurance requirements for alcoholic beverage licensees. 
 
Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2018-04: An Ordinance of the Statesboro 
Code of Ordinances: Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) Amendment adding Low Volume 
Licensees to Section 6-3 Definitions and consideration by Mayor and Council of whether a 
discount for license fees should be available for such licensees and in what amount. 
 
Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2018-05: An Ordinance of the Statesboro 
Code of Ordinances: Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) Amendment adding Special Events 
provision to Section 6-8 “Regulations pertaining to certain classes of licenses generally” as 
Section 6-8 9(d)(3)  

 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to table Ordinance 2018-
02-2018-04, 2018-05 until the next meeting. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted 
in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to Approve the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
between SPD and BCSO allowing Bulloch County Sheriff’s Foundation and Statesboro 
Police Foundation to construct building at jointly owned training facility on 301 North. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs Motion to Approve the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between SPD and BCSO allowing Bulloch County 
Sheriff’s Foundation and Statesboro Police Foundation to construct building at jointly owned 
training facility on 301 North. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve Award of Contract to Southeastern Civil, Inc. for 
the South College Street Headwall project in the amount of $104,135.00, base bid per unit 
pricing.  This project will be paid by Stormwater Utility revenues. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to approve Award of 
Contract to Southeastern Civil, Inc. for the South College Street Headwall project in the amount 
of $104,135.00, base bid per unit pricing.  This project will be paid by Stormwater Utility 
revenues. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 
Consideration of a Motion to award a contract for general liability and workers 
compensation insurance brokerage services to Glenn - Davis and Associates.  This award 
would be for a one (1) year term with the option to renew for two (2) additional one (1) 
year terms. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs Motion to award a contract 
for general liability and workers compensation insurance brokerage services to Glenn - Davis 
and Associates.  This award would be for a one (1) year term with the option to renew for two 
(2) additional one (1) year terms. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of 
the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to CDW to purchase a citywide software 
upgrade off the National Joint Powers Alliance (NJPA) contract in the amount of 
$45,054.50 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs Motion to award a contract 
to CDW to purchase a citywide software upgrade off the National Joint Powers Alliance (NJPA) 
contract in the amount of $45,054.50. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to Approve Award of Contract to Ellis Wood Contracting for 
the FY2018 Street Resurfacing project.  Ellis Wood Contracting's bid was in the amount 
of $494,131.25 based on unit pricing, however, staff requests approval to spend up to the 
approved budget amount of $613,311.00 by unit price extensions in order 
to resurface additional street mileage.  Funding is provided by a combination of GDOT 
funds ($298,311.00) and 2013 SPLOST funds ($315,000.00). 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to Approve Award of 
Contract to Ellis Wood Contracting for the FY2018 Street Resurfacing project.  Ellis Wood 
Contracting's bid was in the amount of $494,131.25 based on unit pricing, however, staff 
requests approval to spend up to the approved budget amount of $613,311.00 by unit price 
extensions in order to resurface additional street mileage.  Funding is provided by a combination 
of GDOT funds ($298,311.00) and 2013 SPLOST funds ($315,000.00). Councilman Boyum, 
Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve Award of Contract to Jerry D. Rushing 
Construction Co., Inc., in the amount of $40,000.00 for the Landfill Scale Ramp project.  
Funding is provided by Solid Waste Fund operating revenues. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to Approve Award of 
Contract to Jerry D. Rushing Construction Co., Inc., in the amount of $40,000.00 for the Landfill 
Scale Ramp project.  Funding is provided by Solid Waste Fund operating revenues. Councilman 
Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion for the surplus and disposal of various Streets and Parks 
Division equipment in the Public Works & Engineering Department. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn for the surplus and disposal 
of various Streets and Parks Division equipment in the Public Works & Engineering Department. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the First Amendment to lease agreement with 
Verizon Wireless regarding City water tower access lease at  289 A.J. Riggs Road 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the First 
Amendment to lease agreement with Verizon Wireless regarding City water tower access lease at 
289 A.J. Riggs Road. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion for the approval of the Fifth Amendment to the lease agreement 
with AT&T regarding City water tower access lease at 201 Lanier Drive.  
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the Fifth 
Amendment to the lease agreement with AT&T regarding City water tower access lease at 201 
Lanier Drive. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 



 
 

 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2018-16 : A Resolution to hereby further 
amend the Classification and Compensation Plan as follows, that the Planning and 
Development Specialist in the Planning and Development Department is hereby reclassified 
to a City Planner I, and that the existing City Planner be reclassified to City Planner II.  
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve Resolution 2018-
16 : A Resolution to hereby further amend the Classification and Compensation Plan as follows, 
that the Planning and Development Specialist in the Planning and Development Department is 
hereby reclassified to a City Planner I, and that the existing City Planner be reclassified to City 
Planner II. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution  2018-17: A Resolution to adopt the 
second amendment to the Fiscal Year 2018 budget for each fund of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in each budget as expenditures/expenses, 
adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and prohibiting expenditures or 
expenses from exceeding the actual funding appropriated 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve Resolution  
2018-17: A Resolution to adopt the second amendment to the Fiscal Year 2018 budget for each 
fund of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in each budget as 
expenditures/expenses, adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and prohibiting 
expenditures or expenses from exceeding the actual funding appropriated. Councilman Boyum, 
Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

 
Consideration of a Motion to set the Public Hearing for the FY2019 Budget for Tuesday  
June 05, 2018 in the Council Chambers at City Hall. 
 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve the Public Hearing 
for the FY2019 Budget as Tuesday June 05, 2018 in the Council Chambers at City Hall. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the revision of the existing City Attorney contract to 
compensate for additional undertaken duties 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve the revision of 
the existing City Attorney contract to compensate for additional undertaken duties. Councilman 
Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council 
 
Councilman Sam Jones stated that he had attended the GMA Spring Listening Session in 
Richmond Hill. 
 
 



 
 

City Managers Comments 
 
City Manager Randy Wetmore reminded everyone the TSPLOST was on the voting ballot. He 
also mentioned the cancellation of the July 3rd Council Meeting due to that being the 4th of July 
week and many would be on vacation. 
 
Public Comments (General) None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
There was no Executive Session. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to adjourn the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:15 am. 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

    
To:   Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

 

From:  Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 

 

Date:  5/7/18 

 

RE:  Asset Surplus and Disposition 

 

Policy Issue:  Purchasing Policy Section 3: Vehicle & Equipment 

Surplus and Disposition 

 

Recommendation:  

Surplus and disposition of items in the Public Works & Engineering Department 

and Fire Department. 

 

Background:  

The following items have exceeded their useful life and are no longer of use for 

the City. 

 

Public Works & Engineering Department: 

Stormwater 

1.) 1993 Ford L9000/Vac-Con Vaccum Truck, unit 9849 (86,967 miles) 

Sanitation 

2.) K-Pac KPCCR dumpster loader, s/n 2020 (year and hours unknown) 

Streets 

3.) 1995 Ford F250, unit 1321(148,000 miles) 

4.) 2004 Ford F450, unit 7017 (142,801 miles) 

Fleet 

5.) 1990 Ottawa Yard Jockey, unit 5222 (5,490 hours) 

6.) 1999 Ford F250, unit 2620 (157,198 miles) 

7.) Two (2) 2006 Ford 4.6 engines (approximately 90,000 miles each) 

 

Fire Department: 

1.) 2002 Ford Expedition, unit 2360 (118,238 miles) 

 

Public Utilities Department: 

Natural Gas 

1.) 2004 Chevrolet Impala, unit 5377 (75,191 miles) 



 

 

2.) 1997 Stahl Challenger service body 

Wastewater 

3.) 2004 Ford F150, unit 9146 (120,968 miles) 

 

 

Budget Impact:  Increase in revenues for sale of assets 

 

Council Person and District: N/A 

 

Attachments: None 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
  

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
 
Date: May 8, 2018 
 
 
RE: May 15, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 
 
 
Policy Issue: Statesboro Code of Ordinances: Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) 
Amendment to Section 6-5 adding insurance requirements for alcoholic 
beverage licensees. 
 
 
Recommendation: Alcohol Advisory Board approved 5-0 on March 12, 2018 
 
 
Background: First Reading Ordinance 2018-02. General discussions were had 
regarding liability relating to sale of alcoholic beverages and the need to ensure 
licensees have adequate insurance to cover potential on-premises incidents, 
Research showed liquor liability insurance is required in many states, despite 
such requirement measure failing to pass the Georgia legislature, and the 
presence of insurance requirements for licensees in the City of Savannah. 
 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: New subsections of 6-5 and 6-19 
 



Ordinance 2018-02 

Sec 6-5 Application procedure; contents of application; contents to be furnished under oath 

(d) Additional Data 

(4) Proof of Insurance 

(a) Proof of dram shop insurance. Applicants seeking a Class D, E, or F alcoholic beverage license 
shall file with their application a certificate of liquor liability insurance (dram shop), in effect for 
the license period and issued by an insurer required to be licensed pursuant to state law, 
providing an annual aggregate policy limit for dram shop insurance of not less than 
$1,000,000.00 per policy year. A 30-day notice of cancellation in favor of the City of Statesboro 
must be endorsed to the policy and attached to the certificate.  Ensure there is no exception (or 
at least some acceptable sublimit for A&B claims under the policy 

(b) Proof of general liability insurance. Applicants seeking a Class B, C, D, E, or F alcoholic 
beverage license shall file with their application a certificate of liability insurance, in effect for 
the license period and issued by an insurer required to be licensed pursuant to state law, 
providing at least $1,000,000.00 in commercial general liability insurance coverage. A 30-day 
notice of cancellation in favor of the City of Statesboro must be endorsed to the policy and 
attached to the certificate. 

 

Sec 6-19 Compliance, violations, penalties. 

(e) Suspension for failure to maintain insurance. Upon notice of insurance cancellation received 
pursuant to Sec 6-9(d)(4), the City Clerk shall suspend any license(s) acquired under said policy. 
License shall be reinstated upon receipt of proof that required insurance has been renewed in 
compliance with aforementioned sub section. Possibly revoke upon two notices of cancellation 
within a calendar year???? 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
 
Date: May 9, 2018 
 
 
RE: May 15, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 
 
 
Policy Issue: Statesboro Code of Ordinances: Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) 
Amendment modifying policy relating to admission of patrons under 21 years to 
establishments licensed to sell alcoholic beverages.   
 
Recommendation: Option A is a complete rewrite of 6-9 to comply with the 
minimum state requirements of Michael’s Law. Alcohol Advisory Board 
approved 5-0 on February12, 2018. Option B is amendment of existing 6-9 and 
addition of “music hall” definition allowing for entry of persons over 18 to 
ticketed live music performances. Alcohol Advisory Board approved 4-2 on May 
7, 2018. 
 
 
Background: First Reading- Ordinance 2018-03 
 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: Options A and B 
 
   



OPTION A 

 

Sec. 6-9.-Minors and Persons under 21 years of age 

Section 6-9 Age Requirements for Entry or Employment at a Bar or as Bouncer 

(a)For purposes of this Section: 

(i) “Bar” means any premises at which a retailer licensed to sell alcoholic beverages 
pursuant to this Chapter derives 75% or more total annual gross revenue from the sale of 
alcoholic beverages for on-premises consumption. 

(ii)”Bouncer” means an individual primarily performing duties related to verifying age for 
admittance, security, maintaining order or safety, or any combination thereof. 

(b) All individuals must be at least 21 years of age to enter or remain in a Bar unless he or 
she is accompanied by a parent, legal guardian, or spouse who is  21 years of age or older.  
This restriction shall not apply if a minor over 18 years of age enters the Bar in order to 
attend a bona fide live musical concert or live performing arts presentation for which the 
minor has paid an admission charge and is visibly and conspicuously marked as a minor for 
purposes of alcohol consumption and service. 

(c) All employees of the Bar, whether part or full time and regardless of employment 
capacity, must also be at least 21 years of age. 

(d) The restriction in Section 6-9(c) shall not apply to 3rd party outside vendors or other 
non-staff employees who are on premises for a limited duration, are being compensated to 
perform a specific task, are not regularly on the premises, and are not on premises for 
purposes of patronizing the Bar. 

(e) No person shall allow or require an individual under the age of 21 to serve as a Bouncer 
on any premises where alcoholic beverages are dispensed, served or sold pursuant to an 
alcoholic beverage license. 

 



OPTION B 

 

Definitions: 

Music Hall: Premises holding D, E, and/or F licenses hosting live musical performances where a ticket is 
required for admission and set up so that the alcohol service and consumption area(s) is/are partitioned 
from the general (18+) section by a physical barrier sufficient to prevent alcoholic beverages from being 
passed from the service/consumption area to the general section. The layout and partitioning of Music 
Halls shall be evaluated for adequacy and compliance by the chief of police or his/her designee. 

Sec. 6-9. - Minors and persons under 21 years of age.  

(a) In addition to the prohibitions set forth at O.C.G.A. §§ 3-3-23, 3-3-23.1, 3-3-24, and 3-3-24.1 as 
amended, which are hereby incorporated by reference herein, a licensee shall not allow a patron under 
the age of 18 years old to enter or remain upon the premises of an establishment licensed to sell 
alcoholic beverages for consumption on the premises beyond 11:00 p.m. unless accompanied by a 
parent or legal guardian, and either the licensed establishment is a restaurant where at least 50 percent 
of the establishment's annual gross revenue is derived from the service of prepared meals and such 
establishment offers its full, unlimited menu until and after 11:00 p.m., or the licensed establishment 
derives no more than 10 percent of its annual gross revenue from the sale of alcoholic beverages. 

 (b) In addition to the prohibitions set forth at O.C.G.A. §§ 3-3-23, 3-3-23.1, 3-3-24, and 3-3-24.1 as 
amended, which are hereby incorporated by reference herein, a licensee shall not allow a patron under 
the age of 21 years old to enter or remain upon the premises or part of a premises of an establishment 
licensed to sell alcoholic beverages for consumption on the premises where by name, common usage, 
knowledge and/or understanding the establishment or part of the establishment constitutes or operates 
as a bar, night club, lounge or similar business. Indicia of such use include, but are not limited to, some 
or all of the following: (1) A limited menu or no food service, particularly after 12:00 a.m.; (2) More than 
50 percent of the premises is standing room only; (3) The establishment derives more than 40 percent 
of its annual gross revenue from the sale of alcoholic beverages; (4) Where a cover charge is imposed 
and collected by the licensee as a condition of gaining entry to the establishment and such a fee does 
not entitle the patron to a seat, whether by general admission or a particular designation; (5) The 
establishment utilizes the services of security forces and/or door personnel; (6) The establishment is 
open after midnight; (7) The establishment provides a full service bar which is the primary location from 
which patrons directly obtain alcoholic beverages. 

 (c) The entry and remaining on premises prohibitions contained in Section 6-9(b) shall apply to patrons 
of the licensed establishment, and not to employees of the establishment who are over the age of 18 
years old, and employed by the licensed establishment to dispense, serve, sell or take orders of alcoholic 
beverages as allowed by O.C.G.A. § 3-3-24(a). 

(c) Persons eighteen years old or older shall be permitted in the general area of Music Halls. Said minors 
are expressly prohibited from entering or being allowed into the Music Hall’s alcohol service/ 
consumption area(s). Possession, consumption, and service of alcoholic beverages shall be forbidden 
outside of the alcohol service/ consumption areas of said venues. 



 (d) The chief of police, or his designee, shall upon review of the license application, the renewal 
application, and/or review of the operation of the licensed establishment determine whether the 
licensed establishment is governed by subsection (a) or (b) of section 6-9. The chief of police, or his 
designee, shall have the authority to proscribe that a licensed establishment be governed by subsection 
6-9(a) on certain days and at certain times, and by section 6-9(b) on certain days and at certain times. 
The chief of police, or his designee, shall have the authority to proscribe that certain rooms or sections 
of the licensed establishment shall be governed by subsection 6-9(a) on certain days and at certain 
times, and by subsection 6-9(b) on certain days and at certain times. The chief of police shall furnish the 
licensee in writing the reasons for the designation, and inform the licensee of the right of appeal 
provided for below. 

(e) The licensee shall have five days from receipt of the written finding of the police chief to file a notice 
of appeal with the city clerk. Failure to file a timely notice of appeal shall render the decision of the chief 
of police final. Upon filing of a notice of appeal the city clerk shall schedule a hearing before the city 
manager no later than ten days from the filing of the notice of appeal. the city manager may reverse the 
police chief's decision only upon showing by clear and convincing evidence that the police chief's 
decision was clearly erroneous. The city manager shall furnish the licensee and the police chief in writing 
the reason for the decision. The licensee and the police chief shall have five days from the receipt of the 
written decision of the city manager to file a notice of appeal with the city clerk. Failure to file a timely 
notice of appeal shall render the decision of the city manager final. Upon filing of a timely notice of 
appeal the city clerk shall schedule a hearing before the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro as soon as 
reasonably possible, but not later than 30 days from the date of the filing of the notice of appeal. The 
mayor and city council may reverse the city manager's decision only upon showing by clear and 
convincing evidence that the decision of the city manager was clearly erroneous. the decision of the 
mayor and city council shall be the final decision of the city. Appeal of the mayor and city council's final 
decision shall be by petition for certiorari to the Superior Court of Bulloch County.  

(f) Posting of notice regarding age restrictions: All establishments licensed to sell alcoholic beverages for 
consumption on the premises shall, when governed by subsection (b) of section 6-9, conspicuously post 
outside of every public entry point to the establishment, or, if applicable, every public entry point into 
the room or section to the establishment governed by subsection (b) of section 6-9, a notice which 
states that no patron under the age of 21 years of age may either enter or remain upon the premises 
governed by subsection (b) of section 6-9, or, if applicable, enter or remain in the room or section of a 
premises governed by subsection (b) of section 6-9. (g) It shall be unlawful for any patron under the age 
of 21 years of age to either enter or remain upon the premises governed by subsection (b) of section 6-
9, or enter or remain in a room or section of a premises governed by subsection (b) of section 6-9. 

(Ord. No. 2016-03, § 1, 3-15-16) 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Travis L. Chance 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
 
Date: May 9, 2018 
 
 
RE: May 15, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 
 
 
Policy Issue: Statesboro Code of Ordinances: Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) 
Amendment adding Low Volume Licensees to Section 6-3 Definitions and 
consideration by Mayor and Council of whether a discount for license fees 
should be available for such licensees and in what amount.  
 
 
Recommendation: Alcohol Advisory Board approved 5-0 on February12, 2018. 
Staff review of proposed ordinance changes indicates that the City would incur 
application costs equal to those of regular licenses with higher compliance costs 
due to enforcement and review of delivery and sales records. 
 
 
Background: First Reading Ordinance 2018-04. Request by community to 
examine the possibility of offering a low volume alcohol license classification for 
premises that don not sell often enough or in volumes necessary to justify or 
offset the cost of a City alcoholic beverage license 
 
Budget Impact: Unknown 
 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: Low Volume Licensee definition 



Section 6-3 Definitions 

Low Volume Licensee: A Licensee that holds Class B, C, D, E, and/or F license(s) under this chapter that 
receives or will receive wholesale deliveries of alcoholic beverages in an average amount of not more 
than $1,000 per month over the course of a year. 

 



CALCULATION OF BASIC LICENSE FEE:   FOR CALENDAR YEAR         
______________    
                                                                
CLASSIFICATION                             (Mark  All That Apply)    LICENSE FEE    
 
Class B, Retail Beer Package     _____      875.00 
 
Class C, Retail Wine Package     _____      875.00 
 
Class D, Retail Liquor by the Drink    _____    1,425.00   
       
Class E, Retail Beer by the Drink                               _____    1,425.00  
 
Class F, Retail Wine by the Drink      _____    1,425.00  
        
Class G, Wholesale Liquor     _____     1,500.00 
 
Class H, Wholesale Beer     _____     1,500.00  
 
Class I, Wholesale Wine     _____     1,500.00 
 
Class J, Licensed Alcoholic Beverage Caterer   _____        200.00 
 
Class K, Brewer, Manufacturer of Malt Beverages Only  _____      1,750.00 
 
Class L, Broker      _____      1,750.00 
 
Class M, Importer      _____      1,750.00 
 
Class O, Manufacture on Wine Only    _____       1.750.00 
 
Sunday Sales Permit     _____          300.00 
 
In Room Service Permit     _____          150.00 
 
Georgia Law (O.C.G.A. Section 3-3-7) states:  "The sale of alcoholic beverages is lawful for consumption on the premises on 
Sundays from 12:30 p.m. until 12:00 midnight in any licensed establishment which derives at least 50 percent of its total annual 
gross sales from the sale of prepared meals or food in all of the combined retail outlets of the individual establishment where food is 
served and in any licensed establishment which derives at least 50 percent of its total annual gross income from the rental of rooms 
for overnight lodging." 
 
Sunday sales permit holders are subject to audit for compliance with State Law.  Each establishment is required  to maintain 
Financial Records on food sales and alcohol sales by separate business location to demonstrate compliance with State and Local 
Law. 
 
                                                                            TOTAL ANNUAL LICENSE FEE:                $ __________________________    
     
 
                                                          PARTIAL YEAR CALCULATION IF APPLICABLE:  $ ____________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Special Event Permit                                          50.00  
 
Distance Waiver Application Fee                                        150.00 
 
Alcohol Beverage Control Security Permit(Permit Shall Be Obtained From The Statesboro Police Department)             50.00 
  
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
  

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
 
Date: May 8, 2018 
 
 
RE: May 15, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 
 
 
Policy Issue: Statesboro Code of Ordinances: Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) 
Amendment adding Special Events provision to Section 6-8 “Regulations 
pertaining to certain classes of licenses generally” as Section 6-8 9(d)(3) 
 
Recommendation: Alcohol Advisory Board approved 6-0 on April 9, 2018 
 
 
Background: First Reading-Ordinance 2018-05. Conversations spurred research 
into how City could host large festivals and allow for alcoholic beverage sales 
during such. Research showed local inability beyond granting open container 
exemptions, the presence of state law and Department of Revenue memos 
addressing state requirements, and numerous ordinances governing such 
events in other municipalities in the state. 
 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: Proposed Section 6-8(d)(3) 
 
 



Sec. 6-8 Regulations pertaining to certain classes of licenses only. 

 (d) (3) Temporary special event license  

a. A temporary license may be issued to any licensee holding a valid City issued catered event alcoholic 
beverage license for a period not to exceed three (3) days for an approved special event. The licensed 
caterer must make complete application and pay all required application fees to the City Clerk or his/her 
designee at least 45 days prior to the start date of the proposed event and shall be required to comply 
with all the general ordinances and regulations for on-premises consumption. The applicant seeking a 
temporary license must also obtain a state-issued temporary special event permit.  

b. The special event must meet the following criterion prior to the issuance of a license to sell alcoholic 
beverages:  

(1)   The special event must receive approval from the Chief of SPD or his/her designee regarding 
crowd control, traffic control, and security measures.  

(2)  The location at which the special event is to take place must be properly zoned and approved by 
the code enforcement officer.  

(3)    The application must be presented to Mayor and Council and approved at a regularly scheduled 
meeting of the Statesboro City Council. 

c.  Every employee or volunteer of the special event licensee working the special event in any position 
dispensing, selling, serving, taking orders for, or mixing alcoholic beverages shall be required to possess 
valid server certification pursuant to Section 6-10. 

d.  The code enforcement officer or the Chief of SPD or his/her designee may immediately revoke any 
temporary license for a special event if it is determined continued alcohol sales may endanger the 
health, welfare, or safety of the public.  

e. As a condition on the issuance of a temporary special event license, the licensee shall indemnify 
and hold the City harmless from any and all claims, demands, or causes of action which may arise from 
activities associated with the special event. 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Vacant, District 5 
 

 

 
Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  
Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
From: Sharon Anton, City Planner 
 
Date: May 7, 2018 
 
RE: May 15, 2018 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Demolition Request 
 
Recommendation: Staff does not have a recommendation for the demolition 
requested by application DSDA 18-05-01.  
 
Background: Lovett and Mills Excavators requests to demolish two (2) structures 
addressed 2 Savannah Ave. The property lies adjacent to the boundaries of the 
Downtown Statesboro Development Authority and requires a finding of 
necessity for proposed demolitions where the structure does not exceed 35 
percent in structural damage and meets one of the criteria contained in Section 
3003(D).  
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Jones (District 2) 
 
Attachments: Development Services Report DSDA 18-05-01 
 



 
 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 
Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

DSDA 18-05-01 
DEMOLITION REQUEST 
2 SAVANNAH AVENUE 

LOCATION: 2 Savannah Avenue 

 

REQUEST: 

Request for a finding of necessity for the 

demolition of one (2) structures zoned CBD 

(Central Business District) adjacent to the 

Downtown Statesboro Development Authority 

Design Standards District boundary.  

APPLICANT: Lovett & Mills Excavators 

OWNER(S): Emily R Hook Properties, LLC, C/O Jeff Hook 

ACRES: .42 acres  

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S39 000014 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:           
District 2 (Sam Jones) 

   

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant would like to demolish two (2) structure addressed 2 Savannah Ave. The property lies adjacent to the 
boundaries of the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority, and in September 2015, City Council adopted Article 
XXX: Design Standards: Downtown District of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, which requires a finding of necessity 
for proposed demolitions where the structure does not exceed 35 percent in structural damage and meets one of the 
criteria contained in Section 3003(D) (See Exhibit A–Location Map, Exhibit B—Photos of Subject Site).  

SURROUNDING ZONING/LAND USES: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: CBD (Central Business District) Churches and office buildings 

SOUTH: CBD (Central Business District) Retail or wholesale establishments 

EAST: CBD (Central Business District) Business or professional offices 

WEST CBD (Central Business District) Business or professional offices 

 

Properties to the north, south, east and west are predominantly a mix of businesses. Surrounding uses include The 
Prescription Shop, The Grind Coffee Shop, First Primative Baptist Churct, and Statesboro Bank.  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 2 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Neighborhood Center” character area as identified by the City of Statesboro 2014 
Future Development Map (See EXHIBIT C—2014 Future Development Map) within the City of Statesboro Updated 
2014 Comprehensive Plan – which aims to “encourage compatible architetcture styles that maintain local character,” 
and “enact guidelines for new development that enhance the scenic value of the corridor and address landscaping 
and architectural design.”  
 
Vision:  

This character area is characterized by a blend of lower to medium density residential and commercial, personal 
service, and offices that are neighborhood scale in size and intensity. This character area often acts as a buffer or 
transition area between single family residential areas and more intense commercial areas. These areas are likely to 
experience uncontrolled strip development if growth is not properly managed. This character area strives to balance 
the provision of neighborhood services with the protection of nearby residential areas. 
 

Appropriate Land Uses 
 

 Single family residential 
 Medium density residential 
 Neighborhood scale commercial, office, and service 

 

Statesboro Updated 2015 Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 14. 

 

Suggested Development & Implementation Strategies 

 A mix of approximately scaled retail, services, and offices to serve neighborhood residents’ day to day need. 
 Residential development should reinforce the center through locating higher density housing options adjacent 

to the center. 
 Pedestrian oriented, with strong walkable connections between different uses. 
 Road edges should be clearly defined by locating buildings at roadside with parking in the rear.  
 Include direct connections to greenspace and trail networks. 
 Enhance the pedestrian friendly environment by adding sidewalks and creating other pedestrian friendly 

trail/bike routes linking to other neighborhood amenities. 
 Encourage compatible architecture styles that maintain local character. 
 Particular attention should be paid to signage to prevent visual clutter. 
 Encourage way finding, on site and monument style signage. 

 

STATESBORO DOWNTOWN MASTER PLAN: 

The 2011 Statesboro Downtown Master Plan Redevelopment Initiatives Locational Guidance land use map places the 
parcel in Zone 13: Streetscape. The plan establishes this zone as of secondary importance level and and calls for 
emphasis on transition to commercial/office uses and increased pedestrian connectivity (See Exhibit D—Locational 
Guidance/Zone Implementation Table). 

 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject properties are currently serviced by city utilities, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant impact is 
expected on community facilities or services as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and are not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no 
expected environmental impact associated with this request. Any environmental issues associated with the proper 
demolition of the structures and/or removal and disposal of debris are the responsibility of the applicant. 

ANALYSIS: 

Given that Bulloch County Tax Records indicate that both structures are greater than fifty (50) years in age, staff is 
not authorized to administratively approve a demolition permit (See Exhibit E—Bulloch County Tax Assessor Parcel 
Information Card).  Rather, council must determine whether the structures are considered to be a “Historical Building” 
as defined by Article XXX of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, and if so, may authorize a demolition only upon a 
showing of necessity.  In order to designate the structure as a “Historical Building” meriting preservation, Council 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 3 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

must find the building to be greater than fifty years in age and that at least one of the following criteria or the criteria of 
the National Register of Historic Places are met.  Ordinance considerations, and relevant known factors, are as 
follows:  

(1) The structure(s) is an outstanding example representative of its era: 

a. See EXHIBIT B—Photos of Subject Site 

(2) The structure(s) is one of few remaining examples of a past architectural style: 

There is no indication that the structure is one of few remaining examples of a past architectural style.  

(3) The property or structure place or structure is associated with an event or person of historic or 
cultural significance to the City of Statesboro, Bulloch County, the State of Georgia, or the region: 

No evidence of association with an event or person of historic or cultural significance to the City of 
Statesboro, Bulloch County, Georgia or the region was found.  

(4) The property or structure is a site of natural or aesthetic interest that is continuing to contribute to 
the cultural or historical development and heritage of the City of Statesboro, Bulloch County, the 
State of Georgia, or the region; 

The subject property is not a site of natural or aesthetic interest that contributes to the cultural or historical 
development of the City of Statesboro.  

(5) It is within an existing historic district or is listed with the National Register of Historic Places; or 

The property is not within an existing historic district and is not listed with the National Register of Historic 
Places. 

Generally, the Department of Interior evaluates the following criteria in consideration of whether a structure is 
historical in significance and therefore possibly deemed worthy of preservation: 

(1) Age  

Both structures exceeds 50 years of age. The church building, constructed in 1958,is 60 years old, and the 
residence, constructed in 1940, is 78 years old (See Exhibit E—Bulloch County Tax Assessor Parcel 
Information Card). 

(2) Integrity 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff does not have a recommendation regarding the requested demolition. 

 

 

 

 

  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 4 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 5 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE  

Pictures 1 & 2: Subject Site Aerial View 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 6 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE (CONT.) 

Picture 3: Subject site from the coner of Savannah Ave. & S. Zetterower, facing northeast, showing both structures  

 
 

Picture 4: Subject site from the coner of Savannah Ave. & S. Zetterower, facing northeast, showing the Church and 
the adjacent parcel, Statesboro Bank 

 

 
 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 7 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE (CONT.) 

Picture 4: Subject site depicting side elevation along Zetterower Ave facing east 

 

 

Picture 6: Subject site depicting the second property, a residential structure fronting on Zetterower Ave.  

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 8 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE (CONT.) 

Picture 7: Subject site depicting residential structure from the front, facing east  

 
 

Picture 8: Eastern edge, property line, and the adjacent Statesboro Bank 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 9 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE (CONT.) 

Picture 9: Looking across Savannah Ave. from subject site to the south  

 

Picture 10: Looking southeast from subject site 

 

Picture 11: Looking northwest from subject site 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 10 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT C: CITY OF STATESBORO 2014 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 11 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT D: LOCATIONAL GUIDANCE/ZONING IMPLEMENTATION MAP AND TABLE 

 
  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 12 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT D: LOCATIONAL GUIDANCE/ZONING IMPLEMENTATION MAP AND TABLE (CONT) 

 

  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 13 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT E: BULLOCH COUNTY TAX ASSESSOR PARCEL INFORMATION CARD 

 

   



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 14 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

EXHIBIT E: BULLOCH COUNTY TAX ASSESSOR PARCEL INFORMATION CARD (CONT)

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 15 of 13 
 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 
April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
Case # DSDA 18-03-002 
February 21, 2018 
 

 



Statesboro Fire Department 
Proudly serving the City of Statesboro and 

surrounding communities since 1905! 
 

   

24 West Grady Street | Statesboro, GA 30458 
Phone: (912) 764-3473 | Fax: (912) 681-7205 

 

Timothy E. Grams 
Fire Chief 

Jonathan M. McCollar 
Mayor 

City Council Agenda Memorandum 
 
To: Mayor and City Council 
 
From: Timothy E. Grams 
 
Date: 4-30-2018 
 
RE: Mutual Aid Agreement with City of Swainsboro regarding Fire Protection 
 
Policy Issue: N/A 
 
Recommendation: Approval – Execution requires Mayor and City Managers 

signatures.  
 
Background: Staff received a request from the City of Swainsboro to update a Mutual 
Aid Agreement for Fire Services.  Agreement was reviewed by staff and recommends 
approving agreement. 
 
Budget Impact: N/A 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments:  

- Copy of Mutual Aid Agreement provided by the City of Swainsboro. 
  








































































	05-15-2018 Council Agenda
	05-2018 Proclamation Police Week
	05-2018 Proclamation Public Works Week Memo 2018
	05-2018  Proclamation Public Works
	05-01-2018 Council minutes
	05-2018 Surplus Memo May 2018
	05-2018-02 Ordinance  Council Agenda Memorandum Insurance
	05-2018-02 Ordinance Insurance (1)
	05-2018-03 Ordinance Council Agenda Memorandum Under 21 (7) good
	05-2018-03 Ordinance Michael's Law Revision of 6-9 (3) good option A
	05-2018-03 Ordinance 6-9 barrier provision rev2-good- option B
	05-2018-04 Council Agenda Memorandum Low Volume (2)
	05-2018-04 Ordinance Low Volume
	05-2018-04 CALCULATION OF BASIC LICENSE FEE
	05-2018-05 Ordinance Council Agenda Memo Alcohol Special Events
	05-2018-05 Special Event Ordinance (2)
	05-2018  Planning -DSDA 18-05-01_2_Savannah_ Staff_Report
	Memo to Council.pdf
	DSDA 18-05-01_2_Savannah_ Staff_Report.pdf

	05-2018 City Council Memo-Mutual Aid Agreement with City of Swainsboro-4-30-2018
	05-2018 Swainsboro Mutual Aid Agreement-2018
	05-2018 First - UV Selection-Steve
	05-2018 Second - UV Replacement Engineering-Steve
	05-2018 Third - W. Main Water and Sewer Extension-Steve
	05-2018 Fourth - W. Main Water and Sewer Agreement-Steve

